University of Wollongong

Research Online

University of Wollongong Thesis Collection 2017+

University of Wollongong Thesis Collections

2020

Bank lending decisions and earnings management: Evidence from China

Huanyu Cui

Follow this and additional works at: https://ro.uow.edu.au/theses1

University of Wollongong Copyright Warning

You may print or download ONE copy of this document for the purpose of your own research or study. The University does not authorise you to copy, communicate or otherwise make available electronically to any other person any copyright material contained on this site.

You are reminded of the following: This work is copyright. Apart from any use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part of this work may be reproduced by any process, nor may any other exclusive right be exercised, without the permission of the author. Copyright owners are entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright. A reproduction of material that is protected by copyright may be a copyright infringement. A court may impose penalties and award damages in relation to offences and infringements relating to copyright material. Higher penalties may apply, and higher damages may be awarded, for offences and infringements involving the conversion of material into digital or electronic form.

Unless otherwise indicated, the views expressed in this thesis are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of the University of Wollongong.

Research Online is the open access institutional repository for the University of Wollongong. For further information contact the UOW Library: research-pubs@uow.edu.au



Bank lending decisions and earnings management: Evidence from China

By Huanyu Cui

Supervisors:

Principal supervisor: Dr. Xiaofei Pan Co-supervisor: Professor Millicent Chang Associate supervisor: Professor Gary Tian

This thesis is presented as part of the requirement for the conferral of the degree:

MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY

University of Wollongong School of Accounting, Economics and Finance, Faculty of Business

March 2020

CERTIFICATION

I, Huanyu Cui, declare that this thesis, submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements

for the award of Master of Philosophy, in the School of Accounting, Economics and

Finance, Faculty of Business, University of Wollongong, is wholly my own work unless

otherwise referenced or acknowledged. This document has not been submitted for

qualifications at any other academic institution.

Huanyu Cui

16 March 2020

2

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents and wife who encouraged me to pursue research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank various people for their contribution which made the completion of this research project possible.

First of all, I would like to express my very great appreciation to my principal supervisor Dr. Xiaofei Pan for his consistent support and guidance throughout my study. His support and invaluable guidance were very evident throughout the whole process from establishing the research topic and writing up the thesis. His supervision was essential to the completion of this thesis and he taught me countless lessons on how the research process works. Furthermore, when I experienced the most difficult time during my study, Dr. Pan gave me his full support. He showed me the right way to go and helped me to get through several difficulties. Not only is he a great supervisor who helps me develop skills, knowledge and experience; he is also a trusted friend who can give me support when I am experiencing difficult times.

I am also grateful to my co-supervisor Professor Millicent Chang for her insights and advice. Professor Chang is a highly experienced and knowledgeable researcher. Her expertise, patience, discussions and comments have been a valuable input for this thesis.

My special thanks are extended to Professor Gary Tian for helping me start this research. He inspired me to find this research topic and provided a number of valuable suggestions and comments. His guidance helped me go into the right direction. Without his help and inspiration, this work would not have been accomplished.

I also wish to express my gratitude to Associate Professor Mary Kaidonis for her guidance on the research proposal. My thanks are also extended to Professor David Johnstone and Associate Professor Corinne Cortese for their kind help and advice when I experienced setbacks. I am also grateful to Professor Terry Walter for his valuable comments on my research.

Thanks also go to the administrative staff Siobhan Christian and Ann-Maree Smith who provided kind help and support during my difficult time. I appreciate the knowledge and experience about allergies they shared with me. This will have a far-reaching impact on my rest of my life. This is not only helpful for me but also my families' health, which is a kindness I will never forget.

I am forever thankful to my friend He Ku for his kindness and support. He taught me how to process the data and always helped me to solve econometric problems. He unselfishly shared his thoughts with me on research, which was crucial for developing my academic skills. He is a great mentor. I will always remember his help.

Finally, I must express my profound gratitude to my parents and to my wife for offering me full support and encouragement. This research would not have been possible without their persistent support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CEDI		
	TIFICATION	
DEDI	CATION	3
ACKN	NOWLEDGEMENTS	4
TABL	LE OF CONTENTS	7
LIST	OF TABLES	9
ABBR	REVIATIONS	10
LIST	OF PUBLICATIONS	11
ABST	RACT	12
Chapt	ter 1: Introduction	13
1.1	Background and Motivation	13
1.2	Research questions	14
1.3	Results of study	17
1.4	Contribution	17
1.5 \$	Structure of this study	19
Chapt	ter 2: Literature review and hypothesis development	20
2.1	China's banking sector	20
2.2	Literature on earnings management	22
2.3	Hypothesis development	24
Chapt	ter 3: Data and research design	28
3.1 \$	Sample selection	28
3.2	Method	28
3.	2.1 Banks' lending decisions	28
	2.2 Firms' unmanaged performance	
	2.3 Event study methodology	
	ter 4: Empirical results	
-	•	
4.1	Summary statistics	

4.2 Regression results	36
4.2.1 Bank lending decisions and borrowers' earnings management	36
4.2.2 Bank lending decisions under different bank-firm ownership	
relationships	40
4.3 Bank loan announcement effect	50
4.3.1 Univariate analysis	50
4.3.2 Multivariate analysis	58
Chapter 5: Additional tests	61
5.1 Bias in earnings management	61
5.2 Endogeneity issue	66
5.3 Additional robustness test	68
Chapter 6: Conclusion	71
6.1 Firms' earnings management behaviour and bank lending and	
announcement effects	71
6.2 Implications of this study	72
6.3 Limitations of this study	72
References	75

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Descriptive Statistics
Table 2 Comparison of SOE and non-SOE samples
Table 3 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size 38
Table 4 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and SBs' loan size42
Table 5 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and FBs' loan size45
Table 6 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and SMBs' loan size48
Table 7 Cumulative abnormal returns (CARs) around bank loan announcements on borrowing firms.
Table 8 Cumulative Abnormal Returns (CARs) categorized by characteristics of borrowing firms, lenders and loans
Table 9 Cumulative Abnormal Returns (CARs): Multivariate regression analysis 60
Table 10 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size when firms' earnings management is measured by Dechow and Dichev (2002) model 62
Table 11 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size when firms' earnings management is measured by a model which controls for the effect of external financing on unexpected accruals.
Table 12 Bank loan size and firm performance: Firm fixed effects regression67
Table 13 Additional robustness test: The impact of stimulus package on the relationship between bank loan size and firm performance
Table 13 Appendix

ABBREVIATIONS

CSMAR China Stock Market and Accounting Research Database

CSRC China Securities Regulatory Commission

WTO World Trade Organization

CBRC China Banking Regulatory Commission

SOEs state-owned enterprises

SBs state-owned commercial banks

SMBs small-and-medium state-owned commercial banks

FBs foreign banks

ICBC Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

CCB China Construction Bank

BOC Bank of China

ABC Agricultural Bank of China

BCOM Bank of Communications

CARs cumulative abnormal returns

ROA return on assets

ST special treatment

IPO initial public offering

SEO seasoned equity offering

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Refereed Conference Proceedings

Cui H, Pan X, Tian G., 2016. Bank Lending Decisions and the Value Effect of Loan Announcements: New Evidence from the Sensitivity between Bank Loans and Firm Performance Adjusted for Earnings Management in China. 29th Australasian Finance and Banking Conference (AFBC), December, Sydney, Australia

Cui H, Pan X, Tian G., 2017. How Bank Lending Decisions Link to Market Responses to Loan Announcements: The Impact of Earnings Management. 29th Asian Finance Association (AsianFA) conference, July, Seoul, South Korea

ABSTRACT

This study explores the bank lending decision puzzle in Chinese listed firms. Banks are known to play a certification role for borrowing firms, reflected by loan announcements generating abnormal positive returns for borrowing firms in stock markets. In contrast, negative market reactions towards the bank loan announcements exist when Chinese firms borrow. If Chinese banks make efficient lending decisions, why do Chinese banks not provide certification for borrowing firms? This thesis focuses on whether and how banks treat earnings management in borrowing firms when they make lending decisions. I predict that banks may not always exert effort to detect earnings management and the observed positive relationship between loan size and firm profitability is due to earnings management.

Using firm performance before and after adjustment for earnings management, I am able to investigate whether banks examine the credibility and reliability of reported earnings of borrowing firms. I find that, when firm performance is adjusted for earnings management, it is no longer related to bank loan size in some cases. Specifically, the positive relationship between bank loan size and firm performance disappears for loans by state owned banks to state owned enterprises (SOE) and loans by small and medium sized banks to both SOEs and non-SOEs.

These findings show that bank-lending decisions vary according to bank-firm ownership relationships and without real screening effort, banks fail to provide certification value to borrowers.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background and Motivation

Conventional wisdom states that banks play a certification role because they act as a delegated monitor (Diamond, 1984) and they have informational advantages in the form of "inside debt" (Fama, 1985; Rajan and Winton, 1995). Hence, researchers predict that bank loan announcements should convey a positive signal to stock markets due to their certification value on borrowers' creditworthiness. However, the empirical evidence is mixed. For example, Mikkelson and Partch (1986) and James (1987) find that loan announcements are associated with positive abnormal returns for borrowers, but public debt is associated with neutral or slightly negative abnormal returns. Billett et al. (1995) find no significant difference between the market's response to bank and non-bank loans. To reconcile these mixed results and understand the certification role of banks clearly, recent studies have explored bank loan announcement effects from the perspective of the characteristics of lenders and borrowers (e.g., Fields et al., 2006; Demiroglu and James, 2007; Bailey et al., 2011; Herbohn et al., 2019)¹. Li and Huang (2018) find that improving firm accounting conservatism can reduce the negative market reaction to the announcement of bank loans. However, whether and how banks play a certification role remains an empirical question.

This study is motivated by the lack of empirical evidence on the bank loan

¹ Loan announcement effects are particularly significant for smaller and weaker borrowers (Fields et al., 2006), and loans with particularly demanding covenants (Demiroglu and James 2007). Bailey et al. (2011) find loan announcement effects vary from loans granted by banks with different types of ownership.

announcements puzzle which has contrary findings in other markets. I aim to provide additional evidence by exploring the variations in bank lending decisions to understand the different effects on loan announcements. Prior studies on bank loan announcement effects have implicitly assumed that bank lending decisions depend largely on firm profitability because banks are fixed-income investors and concerned about borrowers' repayment commitment. Bertrand et al. (2007) provides empirical evidence by linking bank loan size to firm profitability to show an efficient lending decision. Pan and Tian (2018) find that firms' bank connections can improve banks' lending decisions by reinforcing the positive relationship between bank loan size and firm profitability but firms' political connection weaken the relationship (e.g., Cull and Xu, 2003; Firth et al., 2009, Zheng and Zhu, 2013). Therefore, I investigate whether bank loan announcement effects reflect the bank lending decision, i.e., to what extent is the size of the bank loan linked to firm profitability?

1.2 Research questions

The Chinese market is an ideal setting because it provides sufficient tension from the perspective of institutional environment and empirical findings. "On the one hand, the Chinese government continues to control the banking industry and corporate sector, leading to a heterogeneous ownership structure of banks and firms. This cross-sectional variation in ownership structure allows an examination of lending decisions which are likely to vary according to bank-firm ownership relationships (e.g. state-owned banks (SBs) or foreign banks (FB) grant loans to SOEs) and non-SOEs." On the other hand, in contrast to findings in developed markets, borrowers' stock value typically decreases around loan announcements in China (Bailey et al., 2011). Nevertheless, an increasing

body of empirical evidence shows that Chinese banks on average use commercial judgement to make efficient lending decisions based on borrower profitability, and documents a positive relationship between bank loan size and firm profitability (e.g., Cull and Xu, 2003; Firth et al., 2009, Zheng and Zhu, 2013). These inconsistent findings regarding efficient bank lending decisions and negative market reactions to bank loan announcements challenge the classic bank monitoring theory and existing findings on bank certification value.

A plausible explanation for the inconsistency is that Chinese banks may not exert effective monitoring when making lending decisions, and the documented positive relationship between bank loan size and firm profitability is merely cosmetic due to the effects of earnings management. A reasonable commercial bank should maximize return on capital and allocate and price loans according to borrowers' risk profiles and profitability (Dinç, 2005). In the presence of severe government intervention on the banking industry, Chinese banks, especially SBs usually follow the objectives set by politicians to serve political objectives and tend to allocate and price loans according to political preferences. Moreover, compared with non-SOEs, SOEs in China are more favored by banks due to state ownership and implicit government guarantees (usually known as soft budget constraints), which may further alleviate banks' concern about repayments (Lin and Tan, 1999; Lu et al., 2012). Hence, to address the puzzle, this study focuses on determining whether banks in China perform treatment of earnings management on borrowing firms when they make lending decisions and explore whether those treatment on borrowing firms' earnings management relates to loan announcements effects.

Prior studies implicitly assume that banks exert effective monitoring through lending,

and generally use the relationship between loan terms and reported performance² as a proxy for bank lending decisions. This measurement can only test whether banks use quantitative measures (e.g., firm profitability) in the credit evaluation process but cannot capture whether banks pay attention to qualitative measures (e.g., the reliability of firms' profitability). Yet if Chinese banks do not exert effective monitoring in lending decisions as mentioned previously, the relationship between bank loan size and reported performance may not effectively capture banks' monitoring efforts. In addition, there is an extensive literature documenting earnings management is prevalent in Chinese listed firms (e.g., Aharony et al., 2000; Chen and Yuan, 2004; Liu and Lu, 2007; Jian and Wong 2010; Aharony et al., 2010; Qi et al., 2017). Hence, since firm profitability can be managed, it is doubtful whether the previously documented positive relationship between bank loan size and firm profitability demonstrates that lending activities also take into consideration the reliability of firms' profitability and other qualitative measures. Collectively, I contend that the positive relationship between bank loan size and firm profitability is largely influenced by earnings management in China, and the negative market reactions to bank loan announcements reflect inefficient lending decisions.

To capture whether banks exert effective monitoring in lending decisions by detecting earnings management, I follow Cornett et al. (2008) where they argue that firms' reported profitability actually reflects the adjustment of earnings management, and firms' real profitability can be obtained by extracting earnings management from their reported profitability. I use the sensitivity between bank loan size and profitability adjusted for earnings management, which allows me to determine whether banks pay attention to both

² As earnings are employed as a summary measure of firm performance by various users (Dechow, 1994), to a great extent firm performance reflects a borrower's debt capacity and level of credit risk.

quantitative and qualitative measures. If banks do not detect firms' earnings management, bank loan size should not relate to the firm's unmanaged profitability, and negative stock price reactions will occur.

1.3 Results of study

Using a sample of listed firms in China between 2003 and 2014, I document the following main findings. First, consistent with my expectation, bank loan size is positively related to reported return on assets ratio (ROA) which is the proxy for firm profitability. However, when reported ROA is adjusted for earnings management, the positive relationship disappears. Specifically, this observation holds for lending to SOEs but not for lending to non-SOEs. When I further distinguish lending by bank types, I find that the abovementioned observation holds when SOEs receive loans from SBs. Moreover, loans from FBs are positively related to adjusted ROA for all types of borrowers. Regarding the market reactions to bank loan announcements, the negative effects of bank loan announcements occur when loan size is not related to unmanaged ROA, which is consistent with my predictions. My results could be affected by bias in earnings management. To ensure my findings are robust, I employ two alternative measures of earnings management. One is earnings management after netting out the effects of large external financing cash flows, and the other one is Dechow and Dichev (2002) model. Consistency across these two alternative measures indicate my results are less likely to be driven by bias in earnings management measurement. My main findings are also robust to a series of alternative tests, including firm fixed effects regression, and regression using the stimulus package as an exogenous shock.

1.4 Contribution

This study contributes to the literature in several ways. First, prior studies typically use the relationship between bank loan size and reported performance to proxy bank lending decisions (e.g., Cull and Xu, 2003; Firth et al., 2009, Zheng and Zhu, 2013). By exploring the earnings management adjustment on firm profitability, this study uses a new measure by linking bank loan size to the unmanaged profitability to investigate the monitoring role of banks. Specifically, I show that the positive relationship between bank loan size and unmanaged profitability can indicate the effectiveness of banks' monitoring, while the relationship between bank loan size and reported profitability is merely cosmetic mainly for government-related loans, which complements the findings of prior studies that Chinese banks use commercial judgement in making lending decisions (Cull and Xu, 2003; Firth et al., 2009).

Second, prior studies have exploited the characteristics of banks or loans to analyse the effects of bank loan announcements, and my study complements these studies by exploiting the bank lending decision to understand the effects of bank loan announcements. My results show that negative reactions to bank loan announcements occur when bank lending decisions are not commercially based, i.e., bank loan size is not associated with firm unmanaged profitability. In reference to studies by Diamond (1984) and Fama (1985), my analysis suggests that even though there is a positive relationship between bank loan size and firm reported performance, bank loans lose their certification value if they do not make effective efforts to screen and monitor borrowers through lending. Results of this study provide an additional perspective on conflicting evidence in the literature on bank loan announcement effects in the Chinese market.

Third, the existing literature on the information role of banks consists typically of event-driven studies (e.g., James 1987; Billett et al. 1995; Fields et al. 2006; Ross 2010;

Herbohn et al., 2019). My study adds to the literature by connecting loan announcement effects with bank lending practice. Furthermore, unlike the US, disclosure of bank loan information is mandatory for Chinese listed firms, and their decisions on announcing bank loans are in most cases not discretionary. Hence, my study to a large extent alleviates selection bias, which is a common problem in the literature with reference to the the effects of bank loan announcements (Maskara and Mullineaux, 2011).

1.5 Structure of this study

The structure of the study proceeds as follows. Chapter 1 provides an overview introducing the background and motivation, research questions, results and contribution. Then, Chapter 2 presents a literature review and hypothesis development. The data and research design are discussed in Chapter 3 while in Chapter 4 the empirical results are reported, including summary statistics, regression results and outcomes on bank loan announcement effects. Chapter 5 presents a battery of additional tests, which deal with the bias in earnings management and the endogeneity issue and includes an additional robustness test. Finally, Chapter 6 concludes the research and discusses the implications and limitations.

Chapter 2: Literature review and hypothesis development

2.1 China's banking sector

China's banking sector plays a critical role in supporting its growing economy. Despite the fact that the Chinese stock market has developed rapidly in recent years, raising external equity capital is difficult and bank loans still remain the main source for external financing (Jiang et al. 2017). By the end of 2017, bank loans accounted for approximately 58% of total fundraising for the non-financial sector, and it is still significantly larger than the share of the stock market (8%) and corporate bond market (11%). The banking and credit industry has developed rapidly over the last few decades in tandem with country's economic growth. The China Banking Regulatory Commission (CBRC) reports that the total assets of China's banking institutions reached RMB 282.5 trillion (about US\$ 39.98 trillion) at the end of 2019. In recent years, due to interest rate liberalization and the rapid growth of shadow banking, the banking sector has expanded at a modest rate. However, compared with 2018, the total assets of China's banking sector in 2019 still increased by 8.1%.

The banking sector in China can be classified into three groups, namely, SBs, small and medium state-owned commercial banks (SMBs) and FBs. First, SBs consist of the five largest commercial banks, these being the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (ICBC), China Construction Bank (CCB), the Bank of China (BOC), Agricultural Bank of China (ABC) and Bank of Communications (BCOM). These banks jointly account for about 36.67% of the assets of the Chinese banking system by the end of 2018.

Second, SMBs comprise 13 joint-equity banks and more than 133 city commercial banks. The joint-equity banks are jointly owned by local governments, SOEs and private investors. With the development of China's economy and banking reforms, the market share of joint-equity banks increased from 14% at the end of 2003 to 17.53% in 2018. Furthermore, city commercial banks are generally owned by local governments. These city commercial banks were formerly not allowed to expand beyond their civic boundaries. However, after 2004, they were freed from this geographical restriction and several city commercial banks have since merged. Over the past few years, the city commercial banks have grown at a very rapid rate. Their market share has increased from less than 1% in 2003 to 12.80% in 2018. Thus, compared with previous studies, I can explore foreign banks' lending decisions by using firm-level data. Third, after joining the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 2001, China committed itself to opening the banking sector to foreign banks by 2006, when FBs were granted access to the Chinese market. The business of FBs has expanded quickly, and their total assets increased sharply from 416 billion RMB in 2003 to 3.24 trillion RMB (about US\$430.8 trillion) in 2017. However, the market share of foreign banks has not changed much and remained at 1.2% at the end of 2017, although their assets have expanded rapidly during the past decade. Finally, the Chinese government launched a pilot program in 2014, in which the establishment of five new privately owned banks was permitted.³ The advent of more privately owned banks has intensified the competitiveness of China's banking sector.

With the implementation of financial reforms and private sector firms taking a greater

³ The CBRC will allow privately owned banks to be established in the cities of Shanghai and Tianjin and in Guangdong and Zhejiang provinces. A total of ten firms, including Alibaba, Tencent and Fosun, will participate in the project. By 2014, WeBank and Shanghai Huarui Bank were established.

proportion of China's economy, some argue that credit discrimination against private sector firms in China has been mitigated, because Chinese banks currently grant loans based on commercial criteria, which was not the case during the planned economy era (e.g., Chen et al. 2013). For example, the China Construction Bank, one of the five largest state-owned banks, announced that its total loans to private firms increased significantly from 18.4% in 2007 to 35% in 2011, while Minsheng Bank, a private bank, stated that it granted more than 62% of its total loans to private sector firms in 2010. However, another view is that Chinese banks' lending decisions in regard to private firms are largely determined by bribery or political connections, rather than business performance (e.g., Lu et al. 2012). Collectively, whether Chinese banks really follow commercial criteria and have begun to play a monitoring role is still an empirical question.

2.2 Literature on earnings management

Healy and Wahlen (1999) define earnings managements as follows: "Earnings management arises when managers use judgment in financial reporting and in structuring transactions to alter financial reports to either mislead some stakeholders about the underlying firm performance or to impact contractual results which rely on reported accounting numbers." Prior studies document that firms' earnings management is related a number of financial activities. Teoh et al. (1998a) find that firms manage earnings upward prior to initial public offering (IPO) and that such earnings management is negatively related to post-issue return performance. Teoh et al. (1998b) document similar findings on abnormal accruals before seasoned equity offerings (SEO). Kim and Park (2005) show that seasoned equity offering firms conduct earnings management when they issue new shares at inflated prices. Moreover, Liu et al. (2010) find that firms manage earnings upward before issuing public bonds and achieve a lower cost of borrowing. In

regard to banks, Shen and Huang (2013) find in their cross-country data that firms' earnings management is negatively associated with credit rating and increases borrowing costs. Mafrolla and D'Amico find (2017) that private firms are engaged in earnings management to achieve better borrowing capacity. Lennox et al., (2018) find that auditors make larger downward adjustment to firms' earnings before stock-financed acquisitions. Beladi et al. (2018) find that corporate tax avoidance has a negative effect on is positively related to bank loans and the interest on bank loans and loan interests in Chinese listed firms. Li et al. (2018) find that Chinese listed firms with lower level of real earnings management receive more low interest loans. Apart from fund raising activities, previous studies document that firms are engaged in earnings management to avoid a decrease in earnings, and to meet sell side analyst' earnings expectations (e.g., Graham et al., 2005). These studies indicate that investors and creditors greatly depend on firms' reported financial information in investment decisions; firms have a strong incentive to conduct earnings management to influence investors' perceptions of their performance and risk.

In regard to China, a number of studies document that Chinese firms' earnings management is associated with tunnelling activities. Liu and Lu (2007) provide evidence that earnings management by Chinese listed firms is significantly related to the tunnelling activities of controlling shareholders. Ding et al. (2007) explore the relation between ownership structure and firms' earnings management behaviours and document that there is an inverted U-shape pattern. Jian and Wong (2010) provide evidence that Chinese listed firms manipulate earnings through related-party transactions. Aharony et al. (2010) provide evidence that earnings management behaviours are driven by the expectation of tunnelling opportunities after the firm goes public.

Apart from conventional incentives to engage in earnings management, Chinese

firms have strong incentives to manage earnings to satisfy regulatory requirements (Aharony et al., 2000). First, a special delisting regulation was introduced by the China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC) in 1998. Specifically, a listed firm that reports a net loss for two consecutive years will be flagged with ST (special treatment), and with *ST if the ST firm cannot turn loss into gain over the next year. Furthermore, the CSRC requires that a listed firm must have made profits in the past three years if it is to issue new shares. Thus, Chinese firms have strong incentives to manage earnings to avoid being capped with ST or *ST or to obtain the right to issue new shares. Collectively, these studies show earnings management behaviour is prevalent in Chinese listed firms. Despite the fact that earnings management behaviour may not necessarily be illegal in China, it distorts the accounting information and may mislead some stakeholders.

Finally, a number of studies employ earnings management as a proxy for firms' quality of corporate governance (e.g., Kim et al., 2016; Dai et al., 2017). Considering that firms' corporate governance quality is an important factor for financing (Lin et al., 2011), how earnings management influences financing activities is still under-researched.

2.3 Hypothesis development

As previously mentioned, earnings management behaviour is prevalent in Chinese listed firms (e.g., Liu and Lu, 2007; Chen et al., 2008; Jian and Wong, 2010; Qi et al., 2017), and reported earnings performance may not reflect the real financial status. To assess precisely borrowers' credit risks and protect their own interests through making efficient lending decisions, it is expected that a reasonable commercial bank will take into account the effects of earnings management, which should be an important consideration

in banks' assessment of credit risk⁴. Thus, if banks make efficient lending decisions, there should be a positive relationship between bank loan size and unmanaged performance.

However, banks may exhibit different lending patterns towards SOEs and non-SOEs. SOEs are controlled by the governments and usually have multiple goals to satisfy politicians' personal and social objectives, such as maintaining social stability and regional employment (Borisova and Megginson, 2011). In this sense, SOEs are less likely to become bankrupt and financially distressed SOEs are likely to receive government financial support, due to the implicit government guarantee and soft budget constraints (Kornai, 1986; Qian and Roland, 1998; Lin and Tan, 1999). Apart from these, the government intervention in the banking industry causes some bankers to maintain good relationships with the political authorities, since they are broadly controlled by the government (Lu et al., 2012). Under these circumstances, banks are expected to have a weaker incentive to screen or monitor SOE borrowers, especially when lending banks are controlled by the government. Given a loan approval process, banks' loan officers may place less weight on qualitative assessment and make SOEs muddle through the credit risk assessment. Therefore, I contend that banks may implement less monitoring efforts when lending to SOEs, and do not pay attention to SOEs' earnings management behavior or the credibility of their earnings. Accordingly, my first hypothesis is as follows:

H1: Bank loan size has no relationship with unmanaged profitability in SOEs, especially when lending banks are government controlled.

⁴ Under the law, Chinese banks must have independent departments for evaluating the credit risk (Chen et al., 2013). The credit department estimates a borrowing firm's credit risk by analysing in detail its accounting information and credit history. In short, Chinese banks are able to detect borrowing firms' earnings management.

Unlike SOEs, non-SOEs do not enjoy implicit government guarantee, which makes banks feel less secure about their lending (Brandt and Li, 2003; Lu et al., 2012). Furthermore, banks suffer less pressure from the government when lending to non-SOEs (Chen et al., 2010). Hence, I should expect that banks will follow commercial criteria and exert efforts to detect earnings management behaviours in lending decisions, because they will face losses if non-SOEs encounter financial distress and cannot generate adequate profits to cover loan repayments. Consequently, it is expected that banks will be more concerned about true performance in non-SOEs. On this basis the following hypothesis is proposed:

H2: Bank loan size has a positive relationship with unmanaged performance in non-SOEs.

The traditional finance theory suggests that banks play a unique certification role for borrowers because they are delegated monitoring (Diamond, 1984) and a form of "inside debt" (Fama, 1985). Thus, bank loan announcements should convey a positive signal to the stock market and certify the creditworthiness of borrowers. Hence, when a bank makes an efficient lending decision, there should be positive bank loan announcements. Accordingly, my third hypothesis is as follows:

H3: Bank loan announcements generate a positive return for borrowing firms if bank loan size has a positive relationship with unmanaged performance.

However, an inefficient lending decision indicates that less effort has been made for screening and monitoring by lenders, which could stir investors' uncertainty about borrowers' creditworthiness (Bailey et al. 2011). Hence, banks' inefficient lending decisions may relate to unfavourable value effects of bank loan announcements.

Accordingly, negative bank loan announcements effects should be aligned with inefficient bank lending decisions, and my fourth and last hypothesis is as follows:

H4: Bank loan announcements generate a negative return for borrowing firms if bank loan size has no or a negative relationship with unmanaged performance.

Chapter 3: Data and research design

3.1 Sample selection

The initial sample consists of all firms listed on both Shanghai and Shenzhen Stock Exchanges for the period 2003-2014, and the data is obtained from the China Securities Markets and Accounting Research (CSMAR) database. The sample period begins in 2003 because China adopted new accounting and auditing standards in 2002. My study requires splitting the sample into SOEs and non-SOEs. The classification of firm type is based on the attributes of the largest shareholder in the firm. Shareholder information is also obtained from CSMAR. To form the sample, I eliminate observations flagged with ST or *ST because labeling special treatment (ST) is due to irregularities in their financial statements and loss for two or three consecutive years. Furthermore, because the finance industry is very different compared to other industries, observations from the financial industry is deleted. I also exclude firm-year observations with missing information, which leaves us with a sample of 1,599 firms with 16,622 firm-year observations.

3.2 Method

3.2.1 Banks' lending decisions

To achieve an optimal lending decision and ensure that potential borrowers are able to satisfy their loan repayment commitment, banks should decide the amount of the loans based on the borrower's profitability (Firth et al., 2009). Thus, following Bertrand et al. (2007) and Zheng and Zhu (2013), I use the sensitivity between newly granted bank loans and firm profitability to proxy for banks' lending decisions. The specific model is as

follows:

$$\Delta DEBT_{it} = \alpha + \beta_1 ROA_{it-1} + \beta_2 Size_{it-1} + \beta_3 Tangibility_{it-1} +$$

$$\beta_4 Leverage_{it-1} + \beta_5 Board_{it} + \beta_6 Indep_{it} + \beta_7 Political_{it} + \beta_8 Banker_{it} +$$

$$IndustryFixed + YearFixed + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

$$(1)$$

where $\Delta DEBT$ is the change in the ratio of bank loans to total assets in the current year. ROA is return on assets, which is measured as the ratio of net income to total assets. Size is firm size, which is measured as the one-year lagged natural log of total assets. Tangibility is one-year lagged net fixed assets divided by total assets. Tangibility is one-year lagged net fixed assets divided by total assets. Tangibility is one-year lagged total liabilities divided by total assets. Tangibility is the natural log of the total number of directors on the boards in the current year. Tangibility is the number of independent directors to the total number of directors on the boards. Tangibility is a dummy variable equal to one if the CEO or director on a firm's board has a government background which is including government official, military official, deputy of National People's Congress (NPC), member of the National Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC) in the current year and zero otherwise. The industry effect and year effect are also controlled in the model. Tangibility is a firm and year index, respectively.

As banks should evaluate borrowers' credit risks based on their prior performance in the credit assessment process, I employ one-year lagged profitability which is consistent with prior studies (e.g., Firth et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2013). I include *Board* and *Indep* to control for borrowing firms' corporate governance, as previous studies suggest that a firm's corporate governance is closely linked to its performance (e.g., Jensen, 1993; Yermack, 1996; Core et al., 1999). Moreover, a number of studies suggest that politically

connected firms have an advantage in obtaining more bank loans (Faccio et al., 2006). To control for the effects of borrowers' political connections, I include *Political*, which is a dummy variable equal to one if the CEO or director on a board has a government background and zero otherwise. Moreover, Allen et al. (2005) suggest that relationships play an important role in firms' financing channels in China. At the same time, hiring people with a banking background as members of the board is typical in Chinese listed firms. So, it is possible these firms may benefit from this situation when they borrow from banks. Accordingly, I include *Banker*, which is a dummy variable equal to one if the CEO or director of the board comes from a banking background.

3.2.2 Firms' unmanaged performance

As mentioned earlier, I use a firm's reported ROA as a measurement of a firm's reported performance. It is widely employed to measure firm performance and is documented as a key determinant in obtaining bank loans. Nevertheless, managers may camouflage firm performance by adjusting sales and accounts receivable. Thus, it is necessary to remove the impact of possible management on relevant accruals to obtain unmanaged performance.

Following Cornett et al. (2008), I measure firms' unmanaged performance by removing the impact of accruals management from reported performance. There are several earnings management measures which may be employed to capture the impact of accruals management. However, by taking into account the bank lending process and Chinese institutional features, I employ the modified Jones model (Jones, 1991; Dechow et al., 1995) in this study. First, when banks' lending process starts, banks need to collect and evaluate borrowing firms' past financial information first, and then estimate whether

the firm could generate sufficient cash flow to repay the loan in the future. Thus, the model which measures accruals based on future information cannot be employed as banks can only obtain present and past information about firms when they start a credit assessment. For example, Dechow and Dichev (2002) in their approach measure accruals based on past, present and future cash flows. Since the modified Jones model measures accruals based on present and past information, it fits the actual state of banks' lending process. Furthermore, consistent with lenders' prudence on the quality of accounts receivable, the cross-sectional version of the modified Jones model is employed to estimate discretionary accruals.

The modified Jones model to estimate normal accruals is as follows:

$$\frac{TA_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}} = \beta_0 \frac{1}{Asset_{it-1}} + \beta_1 \frac{\Delta Rev_{it} - \Delta AR_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}} + \beta_2 \frac{PPE_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}}$$
(2)

where TA_{it} is total accruals in year t, calculated as [change in current assets – change in current liabilities – change in cash – change in debt in current liabilities – depreciation and amortization expense], $Asset_{it-1}$ is one-year lagged total assets, ΔRev_{it} is the change in revenue in year t, PPE_{it} is property, plant, and equipment, while i, t are firm and year index, respectively. These definitions follow those of Kothari et al. (2005).

The modified Jones model to calculate discretionary accruals is written here:

$$\%DA_{it} = \frac{TA_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}} - (\hat{\beta}_0 \frac{1}{Asset_{it-1}} + \hat{\beta}_1 \frac{(\Delta Rev_{it} - \Delta AR_{it})}{Asset_{it-1}} + \hat{\beta}_2 \frac{PPE_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}})$$
(3)

where $\hat{\beta}_0$, $\hat{\beta}_1$ and $\hat{\beta}_2$ are estimated from regression Eq. (2)⁵. ΔAR_{it} is the change in accounts receivable, %DA_{it} is discretionary accruals as a fraction of assets. Other variables are defined as in Eq. (2).

Since %DA is measured as a fraction of assets which can be subtracted from ROA, this study uses unmanaged ROA as the proxy of a firm's unmanaged performance. Due to the discretionary accrual being removed from reported ROA, unmanaged ROA should capture firms' unmanaged performance rather than managed accounting performance.

I estimate sets of regressions to examine whether and how firms' reported, as well as unmanaged, performance affects the bank loan size, and whether and how the ownership structures of banks and borrowers influence these relationships. I first estimate model (1) to examine the relationship between bank loan size and a firm's reported performance, and then replace reported ROA with unmanaged ROA to test whether a firm's unmanaged performance relates to bank loan size. Moreover, I further conduct analysis for subsamples divided according to lender and borrower ownership.

3.2.3 Event study methodology

To investigate whether bank loan announcements effects are aligned with bank lending decisions, I employ a conventional event-study methodology. Following Harvey et al. (2004) and Bailey et al. (2011), I examine cumulative abnormal returns (CARs) by using market model. Considering that a firm may borrow from banks more than once a year, longer estimation windows may bear the risk of covering structural breaks (e.g., due to confounding events). Hence, consistent with Bailey et al. (2011), the estimation window, [-120,-21], is employed for calculating the market model parameters.

for each industry-year in the model (Kothari et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2011).

⁵ Dechow, Sloan, and Sweeney (1995) suggest that that "modified Jones (1991) model" provides the most power for detecting earnings management by comparing several models of accruals management. Bartov, Gul, and Tsui (2001) also suggest employing the modified Jones model, estimated in a cross-section using other firms in the same industry. Consistent with prior studies, a minimum of 10 observations is required

Chapter 4: Empirical results

4.1 Summary statistics

Table 1 presents the summary statistics for change in total bank loan, a firm's reported ROA, unmanaged ROA and other variables about firm characteristics. The mean change in total bank loans is 0.030, which is similar to prior studies (Zheng and Zhu, 2013). The mean reported ROA is 0.030 and this is similar to the 0.033 reported by Lu et al. (2012). The average unmanaged ROA is 0.02. The average of discretionary accruals on assets is 0.01, the same as that reported by Liu and Lu (2007). However, Cornett et al. (2008) reported mean discretionary accruals on assets in their US sample as 0.0039. Not surprisingly, earnings management activities in China are more severe than in a more developed economy. Definitions of these variables are summarized in Appendix. Table 2 presents the univariate tests of change in total bank loan, a firm's reported ROA, unmanaged ROA and other variables about firm characteristics. for SOE and non-SOE samples. We can observe that the average of discretionary accruals on assets size is significantly higher for non-SOEs, indicating that non-SOEs are more engaged in earnings management activities than SOEs.

Table 1Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive Statistics						
Variable	Mean	Median	Std.	25 th	75 th	N
ΔDEBT	0.030	0	0.130	-0.030	0.070	16622
Reported ROA	0.030	0.030	0.080	0.010	0.060	16622
%DA	0.010	0.010	0.110	-0.050	0.060	16622
Unmanaged ROA	0.020	0.020	0.110	-0.040	0.080	16622
Size	21.58	21.46	1.250	20.74	22.28	16622
Tangibility	0.280	0.250	0.190	0.140	0.410	16622
Leverage	0.220	0.210	0.160	0.090	0.330	16622
Board	9.220	9	1.920	9	10	16622
Indep	0.360	0.330	0.050	0.330	0.380	16622
Political	0.380	1	0.490	1	1	16622
Banker	0.260	0	0.440	0	1	16622

This table presents descriptive statistics for the full sample of 16,622 firm-year observations over the 2003-2014 period. Definitions of variables are listed in Appendix.

Table 2Comparison of SOE and non-SOE samples

Variable	SOE=0	SOE=1	Mean-diff	t
	(n=7096)	(n=9372)		
ΔDEBT	0.261	0.116	0.145	0.915
Reported ROA	3.143	0.024	3.119	1.077
%DA	0.010	0.004	0.006***	3.321
Unmanaged ROA	3.133	0.020	3.113	1.075
Size	21.131	21.891	-0.760***	-38.572
Tangibility	0.253	0.306	-0.053***	-18.086
Leverage	0.307	0.221	0.086	1.513
Board	8.779	9.560	-0.781***	-25.905
Indep	0.363	0.357	0.006***	7.007
Political	0.404	0.370	0.034***	4.423
Banker	0.291	0.226	0.066***	9.626

Definitions of variables are listed in Appendix. ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

4.2 Regression results

4.2.1 Bank lending decisions and borrowers' earnings management

Table 3 presents results concerning the regressions of the relationship between a firm's reported performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size. The first two columns report the results for the full sample, and the remaining columns report the results for both SOE and non-SOE subsamples. I observe that the coefficient on firms' reported ROA is positive and significant for the full sample in column 1, which is consistent with prior studies (Cull and Xu, 2003; Zheng and Zhu, 2013). Moreover, column 3 and 5 show that the positive relationship holds for both SOE and non-SOE subsamples, indicating banks' lending patterns do not vary for different types of borrowers when effects of earnings mangement are not taken into account. This suggests that banks tend grant more loans to more profitable firms without considering firms' earnings management behaviors. However, the coefficient on firms' unmanaged ROA is insignificant in column 2, which implies that the observed positive relationship in column 1 is merely cosmetic. This suggests that banks in China generally do not use qualitative measures in lending decisions, as they do not generally enact effective efforts to detect firms' earnings management behaviours. After dividing the full sample into SOE and non-SOE subsamples, I observe firms' unmanaged ROA is negatively and insignificantly related to bank loan size in column 4 for the SOE subsample. It is, however, positively and significantly related to bank loan size for the non-SOE subsample in column 6.

These results suggest that the bank loan size is positively related to firm unmanaged profitability in non-SOEs, but has no relationship with firms' unmanaged profitability in SOEs. These results support H1 and H2 and are consistent with previous results (Firth et

al., 2009), which suggests that banks extend credit based on commercial judgements in loan decisions for non-SOE borrowers. Collectively, my findings from Table 3 suggest that banks do not always exert effective monitoring through lending, and they exhibit different patterns of lending decisions for different types of borrowers when considering earnings management adjustment on firm profitability. Specifically, they only exert effective monitoring in lending decisions for non-SOE borrowers because they assess both quantitative and qualitative measures. Although bank loan size is positively related to firms' reported performance for SOEs, results of this study suggest that banks do not use qualitative measures and overlook the credibility of SOEs' profitability since bank loan size is not associated with unmanaged profitability significantly. Therefore, banks do not use commercial judgement when make lending decisions to SOEs.

With respect to other control variables, *Size* is positively related to bank loan size but is insignificant for the SOE subsample, which is consistent with Zheng and Zhu (2013) and suggests that banks tend to grant larger loans to large firms. *Tangibility* is negatively related to bank loan size, which indicates that firms with a lower level of tangible assets and relatively larger total assets have higher demand for bank loans. *Leverage* is negatively related to bank loan size, suggesting that banks are willing to allocate larger loans to firms with a lower level of debt. *Board* is positively related to bank loan size, which suggests that banks tend to grant larger loans to firms with more board directors. None of the other variables are significant.

 Table 3

 Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size

	Full Sample		SOEs		Non-SOEs	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Reported ROA	0.167***		0.189***		0.179***	
	(11.98)		(8.32)		(11.30)	
Unmanaged ROA		-0.010		-0.019		0.047***
		(-1.08)		(-1.42)		(3.37)
SIZE	0.002**	0.005***	0.000	0.003**	0.002	0.005***
	(2.23)	(5.07)	(0.05)	(2.11)	(1.21)	(3.00)
Tangibility	-0.021***	-0.025***	-0.030***	-0.034***	-0.028**	-0.040***
	(-3.11)	(-3.78)	(-3.49)	(-3.96)	(-2.45)	(-3.45)
Leverage	-0.083***	-0.115***	-0.059***	-0.091***	-0.001**	-0.001***
	(-12.10)	(-17.21)	(-6.82)	(-10.86)	(-2.45)	(-3.19)
Board	0.002***	0.002***	0.002***	0.003***	0.003**	0.003***
	(4.01)	(4.21)	(3.46)	(3.63)	(2.46)	(2.88)
Indep	0.033	0.029	0.007	0.003	0.068*	0.070*
	(1.59)	(1.41)	(0.27)	(0.10)	(1.90)	(1.93)

Political	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.001
	(0.82)	(0.80)	(0.88)	(0.96)	(0.27)	(0.21)
Banker	0.002	0.001	0.004	0.003	-0.004	-0.004
	(0.73)	(0.61)	(1.16)	(0.83)	(-1.02)	(-1.06)
Constant	-0.008	-0.051**	0.033	-0.007	-0.030	-0.093**
	(-0.40)	(-2.46)	(1.23)	(-0.27)	(-0.77)	(-2.38)
Year Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Industry Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Adjusted R ²	0.045	0.037	0.044	0.038	0.038	0.022
N	16622	16622	9372	9372	7096	7096

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans to total assets at current year. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. I split the full sample of firms into SOEs and non-SOEs, and repeat the same regressions as for the full sample. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

4.2.2 Bank lending decisions under different bank-firm ownership relationships

My evidence so far suggests that the positive relationship between bank loan size and performance does not hold for SOEs, which is driven by the attribute of borrowers' ownership. In this section, I further explore how bank lending decisions vary according to the lending bank ownership. The heterogeneity of the ownership structure of Chinese banks provides cross-sectional variation for examining lending decisions by banks which are likely to vary according to bank-firm ownership relationships. I identify the types of banks that extend loans to my sample firms, and repeat regression analysis for each type of bank. To represent the monitoring incentive of banks appropriately, I partition banks into three groups, namely, SBs, SMBs and FBs.

I hand-collect the information of the lending bank types from the Notes to the Financial Statement dataset of the CSMAR, which provides the loan balance for each firm in each year as well as the lending banks, then I add up the loans balances together according to the lending bank types. To clearly and precisely identify the lending banks that I define above, I exclude syndicated loans and loans where the lending bank is not available. It is worth noting that the missing information of the lending bank types on loan balance and excluded syndicated loans lead to the sample size dropping and constrain explanatory power. Empirically, I re-estimate equation (1) by replacing dependent variables with the change of loans from year t-1 to year t, scaled by firm total assets, and run the equation for each type of bank.

Table 4 reports the results by focusing on bank loans from SBs. I observe that the coefficient on firms' reported ROA is significant and positive in column 1 but the coefficient on unmanaged ROA is positive and significant only at the 10% level. When I

look at the results for the SOE subsample in columns 3 and 4, I notice that bank loan size is not closely related to either reported ROA or unmanaged ROA, which suggests that: firstly, SBs generally do not consider firms' earnings management behaviour when lend to SOE borrowers; and secondly, do not pay much attention to their unmanaged performance. This outcome strongly supports my H1 and is consistent with Bai et al. (2006), who argue that SBs in China still have considerable responsibility to support SOEs. When I look at the results for the non-SOE subsample in columns 5 and 6, I find that the coefficients on both reported ROA and unmanaged ROA are positive and significant. These results are broadly consistent with H2, indicating that SBs pay attention to both qualitative and quantitative measures when allocating capital to non-SOEs. This result also emphasizes that SBs do not only focus on the reported profitability but also consider the credibility of accounting performance for non-SOE borrowers. Overall, these results reveal that SBs' due diligence and monitoring in lending operations vary between SOE and non-SOE borrowers.

Table 4Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and SBs' loan size

	Full Sample		SOEs		Non-SOEs	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Reported ROA	0.317***		-0.006		0.298***	
	(3.15)		(-0.04)		(3.69)	
Jnmanaged ROA		0.140*		-0.021		0.291***
		(1.95)		(-0.26)		(3.11)
SIZE	-0.031***	-0.028***	-0.022***	-0.022***	-0.021	-0.018
	(-4.44)	(-4.07)	(-3.41)	(-3.48)	(-1.05)	(-0.88)
Cangibility	0.095**	0.076	0.118**	0.119**	-0.018	-0.029
	(1.97)	(1.57)	(2.46)	(2.49)	(-0.15)	(-0.25)
everage	0.191***	0.170***	0.030	0.028	0.275***	0.283***
	(5.22)	(4.76)	(0.56)	(0.56)	(6.39)	(6.55)
Board	0.006	0.006	0.005	0.005	0.007	0.007
	(1.43)	(1.36)	(1.21)	(1.22)	(0.50)	(0.54)
ndep	-0.039	0.014	-0.102	-0.101	-0.063	0.108
	(-0.22)	(0.08)	(-0.61)	(-0.61)	(-0.14)	(0.23)

Political	0.020	0.027	-0.004	-0.004	0.053	0.060
	(0.87)	(1.17)	(-0.15)	(-0.17)	(1.09)	(1.23)
Banker	0.003	0.002	0.024	0.023	-0.013	-0.005
	(0.18)	(0.12)	(1.18)	(1.18)	(-0.32)	(-0.13)
Constant	0.653***	0.588***	0.674***	0.673***	0.242	0.137
	(4.04)	(3.64)	(4.24)	(4.31)	(0.52)	(0.29)
Year Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Industry Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Adjusted R ²	0.122	0.113	0.059	0.060	0.359	0.348
N	603	603	357	357	246	246

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans from SBs to total assets at current year. Firms' loan balance from SBs is disclosed in the note to financial statements. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

Table 5 reports the relationship between a firm's reported performance and unmanaged performance and FBs' loan size. As reported in columns 1 and 2, both firm reported ROA and firm unmanaged ROA are positive and significant for the full sample. This suggests that FBs assess both qualitative measures and quantitative measures, and exert effective efforts to detect borrowers' earnings management in lending decisions. It is consistent with previous studies (e.g. Berger et al., 2009; Lin and Zhang, 2009) which document that FBs perform better and are more efficient than local Chinese banks. In regard to the SOE and non-SOE subsamples, firms' reported ROA and unmanaged ROA are all significant and positive for both the SOE and non-SOE subsamples in columns 3, 4, 5 and 6, suggesting that FBs seek to detect borrowers' earnings management in lending decisions, regardless of whether the borrower is an SOE or non-SOE. These results indicate that the patterns of FB's lending decisions do not vary for different types of borrowers. As the evidence shows FBs exert effective monitoring efforts in lending decisions, I expect that negative bank loan announcement effects will not occur when loans are granted by FBs.

Table 5Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and FBs' loan size

	Full Samp	le	SOEs		Non-SOEs	S
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Reported	0.229***		0.187**		0.168***	
ROA						
	(4.63)		(2.27)		(3.28)	
Unmanaged		0.096***		0.118**		0.089**
ROA						
		(2.65)		(2.26)		(2.11)
SIZE	- 0.012***	- 0.010***	- 0.010***	- 0.010***	- 0.016***	-0.011**
	(-3.87)	(-3.29)	(-3.43)	(-3.28)	(-2.99)	(-2.15)
Γangibility	-0.030	-0.037*	-0.008	-0.003	-0.053*	-0.066**
	(-1.44)	(-1.76)	(-0.34)	(-0.14)	(-1.76)	(-2.11)
Leverage	0.092***	0.082***	-0.029	-0.044*	0.160***	0.148***
	(4.28)	(3.71)	(-1.13)	(-1.79)	(5.96)	(5.40)
Board	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.001	-0.002	-0.001
	(0.07)	(0.26)	(0.51)	(0.75)	(-0.73)	(-0.35)
ndep	0.111*	0.116*	0.182**	0.184**	0.062	0.100
	(1.70)	(1.70)	(2.28)	(2.30)	(0.78)	(1.20)
Political	0.016*	0.019*	0.015	0.014	0.010	0.018
	(1.69)	(1.97)	(1.31)	(1.17)	(0.91)	(1.55)
Banker	0.014*	0.016**	0.012	0.009	0.010	0.009
	(1.88)	(2.00)	(1.34)	(0.98)	(0.97)	(0.86)
Constant	0.225***	0.191***	0.185***	0.173***	0.244*	0.116
	(3.42)	(2.82)	(2.99)	(2.79)	(1.90)	(0.94)
Year Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
ndustry	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Effects						
Adjusted R ²	0.203	0.147	0.134	0.134	0.631	0.603
J	226	226	123	123	103	103

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans from FBs to total assets at current year. Firms' loan balance from FBs is disclosed in the note to financial statements. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

Table 6 reports the results of the regressions for the relationship between firms' reported performance and unmanaged performance and SMBs' loan size. I note that coefficients on firms' reported ROA are all significant and positive for bank loan size for the full sample, and the SOE and non-SOE subsamples in columns 1, 3 and 5. However, the coefficients on firms' unmanaged ROA are all insignificant for bank loan size for the full sample, and SOE and non-SOE subsamples in columns 2, 4 and 6. These results support H1, indicating that SMBs do not use qualitative measures and disregard the credibility of borrowing firms' accounting information, and therefore they do not carry out effective monitoring in lending decisions, regardless of whether the borrower is an SOE or non-SOE. These results support the view that SMBs still suffer intensive government intervention in lending decisions. My results are consistent with the findings reported by Chen et al., 2005, who state that on average SMBs are less efficient than SBs. In addition, my findings are robust when I examine exclusively the loans issued by joint-equity banks.

Table 6
Reported firm performance unmanaged performance and SMRs' loan size

	Full Sample		SOEs		Non-SOEs	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Reported ROA	0.058***		0.033***		0.099***	
	(0.82)		(0.28)		(0.90)	
Unmanaged ROA		0.002		-0.056		0.030
		(0.04)		(-1.00)		(0.32)
SIZE	-0.019***	-0.018***	-0.014***	-0.014***	-0.027**	-0.025**
	(-4.21)	(-4.12)	(-3.01)	(-3.01)	(-2.51)	(-2.40)
Γangibility	-0.060*	-0.064*	-0.003	-0.002	-0.134*	-0.143*
	(-1.70)	(-1.82)	(-0.09)	(-0.07)	(-1.66)	(-1.77)
Leverage	0.135***	0.129***	0.028	0.017	0.132***	0.125***
	(5.17)	(5.05)	(0.75)	(0.47)	(4.06)	(3.95)
Board	-0.002	-0.002	-0.001	-0.001	-0.006	-0.005
	(-0.61)	(-0.60)	(-0.58)	(-0.49)	(-0.82)	(-0.79)
ndep	0.185*	0.185*	-0.054	-0.054	0.578***	0.593***
	(1.82)	(1.81)	(-0.54)	(-0.54)	(2.72)	(2.75)

Political	0.014	0.014	-0.002	-0.001	0.018	0.017
	(0.91)	(0.94)	(-0.14)	(-0.09)	(0.61)	(0.58)
Banker	0.022*	0.023*	0.008	0.009	0.040	0.042*
	(1.78)	(1.84)	(0.64)	(0.71)	(1.61)	(1.69)
Constant	0.354***	0.343***	0.359***	0.360***	0.362	0.326
	(3.37)	(3.29)	(3.60)	(3.63)	(1.35)	(1.21)
Year Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Industry Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Adjusted R ²	0.144	0.143	0.050	0.054	0.302	0.299
N	433	433	257	257	174	174

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans from SMBs to total assets at current year. Firms' loan balance from SMBs is disclosed in the note to financial statements. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

4.3 Bank loan announcement effect

4.3.1 Univariate analysis

My study so far has focused on bank lending decisions. I find the positive relationship between bank loan size and firms' reported performance is merely cosmetic when state-owned banks extend loans to SOEs, when the effect of earnings management is considered. These findings indicate that banks do not always exert effective monitoring through lending. According to the "inside debt" theory, banks' due diligence and monitoring constitute the premise behind bank certification value. Hence, I would expect that unfavourable market responses to bank loan announcement should occur when there is a disconnection between bank loan size and firms' reported performance as it reflects ineffectiveness of bank monitoring. To test the hypotheses, I borrow insights from studies on the effects of loan announcements¹, which suggest that the valuation effects of bank loan announcements may indicate whether banks make optimal lending decisions, or subsidize loans to borrowers for non-profitable reasons (Bailey et al., 2011).

Information on loan announcements is obtained from the CSMAR database. Unlike the U.S. SEC rules, the CSRC (China Securities Regulatory Commission) rules require Chinese listed firms to disclose bank loans worth more than 10 million yuan (about US\$1.5 million) and those greater than 10% of equity book value. Hence, firms' decisions to report bank loan information are in most cases not discretionary.² As investors usually ignores small loans, I eliminate those loans worth less than 10 million yuan. Moreover, many loan announcements are not validated as signed loan contracts. For example, some

¹ Kang and Liu (2008) explore the effects of bank loan announcements on banks' stock returns in the Japanese market. However, my sample is not suitable for conducting a standard event study for effects of loan announcements on lenders, as one bank often grants several loans in a very short period.

² Maskara and Mullineaux (2011) suggest that loan announcements may be selective, and that self-selection bias may influence extant loan announcement research.

loans only indicate firms receiving a line of credit. I exclude those loan announcements because they do not convey sure signs to investors. Finally, to eliminate the influence of other events, I exclude observations surrounded by other events announced within five trading days before and after the loan announcements. My final sample consists of 922 loan announcements between 2003 and 2014, corresponding to 482 listed firms. The sample size corresponds to prior studies (Huang et al., 2012). Table 7 presents the empirical results CARs around loan announcements for borrowing firms. The CAR in Panel A is showed in percentage points and raw value in Panel B. Panel A presents CARs for various event windows around loan announcement dates. The mean [-5, -2] CAR is negative but not significantly different from 0, suggesting there is no severe information leakage prior to the loan announcement. When the event window approaches the announcement date, CARs become significantly negative. This supports my prior findings and my H3 which negative market reactions to bank loan announcement occur if bank loan size has no relationship with firms' unmanaged performance.

Panel B of Table 7 reports values of average CAR [-1, 4] on borrowing firms for different types of banks³. I observe that CARs are significantly negative for bank loans to the full sample and SOE subsample, but they are insignificant for non-SOEs. These results are consistent with my previous finding and H3, indicating negative bank loan announcement effects occur when bank loan size has no relationship with firm unmanaged performance. For loans by SMBs, CARs are significantly negative for the full sample and SOE subsample, which are consistent with my previous results and H3. For loans by FBs, CARs are significantly positive for all samples. These results strongly

-

³ It is possible that some loan announcements may be leaked just prior to the official announcement date, so we use the [-1, 4] CARs, which is consistent with previous research (e.g. Harvey et al., 2004; Bailey et al., 2011).

confirm my prior findings, indicating that whether bank loan size has a relationship with firms' unmanaged performance is aligned with bank loan announcement effects. Collectively, these results suggest if banks effectively monitor lending decisions and this relates to their certification value to the stock market. They also are consistent with Bailey et al. (2011), who suggest that Chinese market participants understand that bank lending decisions vary across different banks and borrowers.

Table 7Cumulative abnormal returns (CARs) around bank loan announcements on borrowing firms.

Panel A. Average CAR over various event windows							
Event window	(0: No. of observations	Average CAR (%)	Percentage of positive	t tost			
announcement day)	No. of observations	Average CAR (%)	CARs	t-test			
[-10, -2]	922	-0.2713	47.35	-0.72			
[-5, -2]	922	-0.2549	47.03	-1.53			
[-2, 2]	922	-0.1886	43.41	-1.50			
[-1, 1]	922	-0.1253	43.73	-1.17			
[-1, 2]	922	-0.2970	43.49	-1.78**			
[-1, 4]	922	-0.3747	45.21	-2.61***			
[-1, 6]	922	-0.5669	44.36	-2.53**			
[-1, 10]	922	-0.7462	44.03	-2.59***			

Panel B. Values of CAR [-1, 4] on borrowing firms for three types of banks

Type of	No. of loans to full	CAR (t-	No. of loans to	CAR (t-	No. of loans to non-	CAR (t-
banks	sample	statistic)	SOEs	statistic)	SOEs	statistic)
All banks	922	-0.004***	499	-0.005***	423	-0.002
		(-2.61)		(-2.87)		(-0.98)
SBs	517	-0.005***	291	-0.006***	226	-0.005*
		(-3.13)		(-2.67)		(-1.80)
Non-SBs	93	0.013***	39	0.012**	54	0.013**
		(3.37)		(2.12)		(2.59)
SMBs	312	-0.006**	169	-0.009**	143	-0.004
		(-2.06)		(-2.27)		(-0.86)

The sample consists of 922 loan announcements between 2003 and 2014 from 482 firms. Average cumulative abnormal returns (CARs) are calculated by using the market model. The estimation window for estimating the expected returns of the borrowing firm is [-120, -21]. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

To better understand the certification role of banks and the anomalous effects of bank loan announcements in China, I further conduct univariate analyses. In particular, I categorize CARs by characteristics of borrowing firms, lenders and loans. Due to some missing information on some variables, the sum of the number of observations is not always equal to total sample size. Table 8 presents the results of the univariate tests on CARs sorted by characteristics of borrowing firms. Studies on bank loan announcements in developed markets suggest the positive effects of bank loan announcements are pronounced for weak and informationally opaque borrowers (Field et al., 2006; Ross, 2010). Bushman and Wittenberg-Moerman (2012) suggest that banks can certify borrowers' accounting quality and ease the concerns of investors. Hence, how bank loan announcement effects vary with firms' accounting quality is worth to explore in China. I use the absolute value of borrowing firms' discretionary accruals, which is one year preceding the loan announcement, to proxy firms' accounting information quality. As reported in Table 8, I divide firms based on the median level of earnings management. The negative effect of bank loan announcements is significantly greater for firms with higher earnings management levels than for firms with a lower level.

This suggests that bank loan announcements in China even stir investors' concerns when borrowers' accounting profitability is weak. This aligns with my prior finding that Chinese banks generally overlook the credibility of borrowers' accounting information. Compared to SBs, SMBs appear to be less concerned about borrowers' earnings quality. Firstly, SMBs struggle to compete with SBs due their smaller size, especially when borrowers are listed firms. Hence, SMBs have incentives to lower their credit rating standard to win clients from SB competitors. Furthermore, the SMBs are jointly owned by local governments, SOEs and private investors. Owing to the ownership structure,

these banks could face political pressure from local governments and SOEs, and have weaker incentives to perform monitoring activities on borrowing firms. As my previous results suggest that both SBs and SMBs overlook the credibility of borrowing firms' accounting information, and their loan announcements yield negative loan announcement effects, I divide lenders into domestic banks and foreign banks for comparison. Table 8 shows that loans by domestic banks have significantly negative CARs, but loans by foreign banks have positive CARs (significant at the 5% level). The difference between domestic and foreign banks is also significant. These results confirm my prior findings and suggest that the certification value of domestic banks is small but that of foreign banks is large. The other pair-wise comparisons, including RPT, ROA, percentage of largest shareholder's ownership, borrowing firm's ownership, market cap, loan size, loan maturity and pledge, are insignificant.

Table 8Cumulative Abnormal Returns (CARs) categorized by characteristics of borrowing firms, lenders and loans

Category	No. of	CAR $[-1, 4]$	T-test of	Signed rank	Difference in	Positive CARs
	observations		CAR=0	test	CARs	(%)
The level of earnings management of						
borrowing firms						
Above median	432	-0.009	-3.60***	-2.739***	-0.008*	43.75
Below median	428	-0.002	-0.88	-1.162		47.66
RPT						
Above median	433	-0.006**	-2.26**	-1.809*	-0.002	45.96
Below median	427	-0.004	-1.55	-1.725*		45.43
Firm performance (ROA)						
Increased	374	-0.005**	-2.23**	-2.328**	-0.000	46.26
Not increased	486	-0.005**	-2.44**	-1.600		45.27
Percentage of largest shareholder's						
ownership						
Above median	407	-0.007***	-2.90***	-2.821***	-0.004	-0.004
Below median	407	-0.003	-1.22***	-0.641		46.93
Borrowing firm's ownership						
SOEs	499	-0.006***	-2.96***	-1.924*	-0.002	43.69
Non-SOEs	423	-0.004	-1.58	-1.953*		48.46
Market cap						
Above median	461	-0.006***	-2.71***	-2.075**	-0.002	44.69
Below median	461	-0.004*	-1.83*	-1.695*		47.07
Lender's type						
Domestic banks	829	-0.006***	-3.74***	-3.198***	-0.011**	45.24
Foreign banks	93	0.010**	2.40**	2.388*		51.61

Loan size						
Above median	499	-0.004*	-1.75*	-0.882	0.003	45.49
Below median	423	-0.007***	-2.83***	-2.884***		46.34
Loan maturity						
More than 1 year	451	-0.003	-1.60	-1.599	0.003	46.56
Equal or less than 1 year	471	-0.006***	-2.91***	-2.192**		45.22
Pledge						
With pledge	84	-0.010*	-1.93*	-1.599	-0.005	39.29
With no pledge	838	-0.005***	-2.77***	-2.192**		46.54

The sample consists of 922 loan announcements between 2003 and 2014 from 482 firms. Sample size decreases as data for some firms' financial information and loan characteristics are unavailable. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

4.3.2 Multivariate analysis

In this section I carry out regression analysis to explore banks' certification role on firms' accounting information. The dependent variable is CARs for the six-day event window of [-1, 4]. Following prior studies (e.g., Chaney et al., 2011), I use the absolute value of borrowing firms' discretionary accruals, which is one year preceding the loan announcement, to proxy firms' accounting information quality. The absolute value of discretionary accruals is widely used as a measure of earnings quality (Dechow et al., 2010). Consistent with prior studies, I also control for characteristics of firms and loans. The definitions and measurement information for the variables are reported in Appendix.

Table 9 presents the results of the multivariate analyses. All models show EM is significantly and negatively related to CARs, indicating that investors react more negatively to borrowing firms with a higher level of earnings management. Unlike the findings in developed markets that bank loans play the certification role, I find that Chinese banks granting loans to firms with poor quality of financial information amplifies investors' uncertainty. This result is consistent with prior findings that Chinese banks overlook the credibility of borrowers' accounting information. Moreover, for comparison, I use the interaction term FB×EM to explore whether foreign banks exert a certifying function on borrowing firms' accounting information. As reported in column 4, the coefficient of FB×EM is significantly positive, indicating that borrowing firms with poorer quality of earnings receive more favourable market reactions when they borrow from FBs. This result supports my prior findings that FBs exert effective monitoring through lending. I also introduce an interaction term SOE×EM to estimate if SOEs impact the relationship between CARs and EM. Perhaps because of the small sample, SOE×EM

is not significant. My findings also imply that, in a developing economy such as China, firms can ease investors' concerns over their accounting information quality by choosing foreign banks and not domestic banks.

Referring to other variables, all models show the coefficient on RPT is significant and negative, which is consistent with Bailey et al. (2011) and Huang et al. (2012). This result indicates that the negative effect of loan announcements is stronger for firms involved with more tunnelling activities. The coefficient on MKT is negative and significant for all models, suggesting that investors react more negatively to larger firms. LOANSIZE is positive and marginally significant. None of the other control variables are significant.

Table 9Cumulative Abnormal Returns (CARs): Multivariate regression analysis

Cumulative Abı					(7)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
EM	-0.0626***	-0.0583***	-0.0795***	-0.1423***	-0.1042***
	(0.0205)	(0.0213)	(0.0249)	(0.0274)	(0.0309)
ROA		0.1131**	0.0258	0.0168	0.0366
		(0.0489)	(0.0620)	(0.0607)	(0.0615)
RPT		-0.1374***	-0.2224***	-0.2340***	-0.2052***
		(0.0390)	(0.0457)	(0.0447)	(0.0456)
MKT		-0.0081***	-0.0129***	-0.0121***	-0.0137***
		(0.0021)	(0.0026)	(0.0026)	(0.0026)
LAR_RIGHT		-0.0034	-0.0016	-0.0039	-0.0025
		(0.0041)	(0.0048)	(0.0047)	(0.0047)
SOE		0.0046	-0.0012	-0.0022	0.0016
		(0.0045)	(0.0052)	(0.0051)	(0.0070)
Tangibility		0.0125	-0.0017	0.0022	-0.0019
		(0.0138)	(0.0159)	(0.0155)	(0.0157)
ROA_UP		0.0060	-0.0031	-0.0028	-0.0017
		(0.0044)	(0.0052)	(0.0051)	(0.0052)
LOANSIZE			0.0039*	0.0036*	0.0046**
			(0.0021)	(0.0021)	(0.0021)
TERM			0.0006	0.0003	0.0002
			(0.0011)	(0.0011)	(0.0011)
FB			0.0405***	-0.0074	0.0403***
			(0.0078)	(0.0123)	(0.0077)
FB×EM				0.3552***	
				(0.0716)	
SOE×EM					-0.0359
					(0.0450)
Constant	0.0005 (0.0028)	0.1048*** (0.0344)	0.1447*** (0.0502)	0.1448*** (0.0491)	0.1437*** (0.0497)
Adjusted R2	0.0028)	0.0344)	0.0302)	0.0491)	0.0497)
N	770	770	547	547	547

The dependent variable is CAR [-1, 4]. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. Sample size decreases as data for some firms' financial information and loan characteristics are unavailable. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

Chapter 5: Additional tests

5.1 Bias in earnings management

It is possible that my results do not hold because of bias in earnings management measure. First, the modified Jones model may overestimate the level of earnings management. For this reason, I employ the Dechow and Dichev (2002)¹ model and repeat my analysis of bank lending decisions to mitigate this concern. The results of the regressions are reported in Table 10, which are consistent with my previous results. Second, Shan et al. (2013) find that unexpected accruals can be biased for firms with large external financing cash flows. This could lead to misjudgment of firms' earnings management behavior and cause my results biased. To address this, I employ a model controlling for the effect of external financing on unexpected accruals² and repeat the previous analysis. Results of the regressions are reported in Table 11 which are consistent with my previous results.

$$\frac{_{TA_{it}}}{_{Asset_{it-1}}} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \frac{_{ARev_{it}}}{_{Asset_{it-1}}} + \beta_2 \frac{_{PPE_{it}}}{_{Asset_{it-1}}} + \beta_3 \frac{_{CFO_{it-1}}}{_{Asset_{it-1}}} + \beta_4 \frac{_{CFO_{it}}}{_{Asset_{it-1}}} + \beta_5 \frac{_{CFO_{it+1}}}{_{Asset_{it-1}}}$$

where TA_{it} is total accruals in year t, calculated as [change in current assets — change in current liabilities — change in cash — change in debt in current liabilities — depreciation and amortization expense], $Asset_{it-1}$ is one-year lagged total assets, ΔRev_{it} is change in revenue in year t, PPE_{it} is property, plant, and equipment, CFO_{it-1} , CFO_{it} and CFO_{it+1} are past, present, and future cash flow, i, t are firm and year index, respectively.

$$\frac{TA_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}} = \beta_0 \frac{1}{Asset_{it-1}} + \beta_1 \frac{\Delta Rev_{it} - \Delta AR_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}} + \beta_2 \frac{PPE_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}} + \beta_3 \frac{XFIN_{it}}{Asset_{it-1}}$$

where $XFIN_{it}$ is net external financing, defined as the sum of net debt financing and net equity financing in year t, other variables are defined as in Eq. (2).

¹ Dechow and Dichev (2002) model is as follows,

² Following Shan et al. (2013), we employ the model as follows:

Table 10Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size when firms' earnings management is measured utilizing the Dechow and Dichev (2002) model.

D 1 4 D	4 1 C*	C	1	C	11 11 '
Panel A · Ret	orted tirm	nertormance	unmanaged	nertormance	and bank loan size
1 WILL 11. IXC	JOI WG III III	periorinance,	ummanazca	periormanee	and bank foun size

	Full Sample		SOEs		Non-SOEs	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Reported ROA	0.175***		0.206***		0.185***	
	(12.53)		(9.25)		(11.44)	
Unmanaged ROA		-0.000		-0.297***		0.173***
		(-0.78)		(-3.21)		(7.56)
Adjusted R ²	0.034	0.063	0.029	0.006	0.038	0.022
N	16583	16583	9360	9360	7096	7096

Panel B: Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and SBs' loan size

Reported ROA	0.266***		-0.004		0.264***	
	(2.59)		(-0.03)		(3.11)	
Unmanaged ROA		0.422		4.554		0.252**
_		(0.23)		(0.67)		(2.58)
Adjusted R ²	0.110	0.008	0.088	0.016	0.304	0.295
N	603	603	357	357	246	246

Panel C: Reported firm performance, unm	nanaged performance and FBs' loan size
---	--

Reported ROA	0.225***	0.147**	0.216***
	(4.68)	(2.03)	(4.96)

Unmanaged ROA		0.091***		0.082*		0.115***
		(2.66)		(1.72)		(2.72)
Adjusted R ²	0.260	0.274	0.199	0.191	0.628	0.564
N	226	226	123	123	103	103

Panel D: Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and SMBs' loan size

Reported ROA	0.052***		0.048***		0.061***	
	(3.76)		(4.58)		(3.02)	
Unmanaged ROA		-0.011		0.012		-0.048
		(-0.1)		(0.14)		(-0.45)
Adjusted R ²	0.194	0.145	0.096	0.168	0.217	0.252
N	433	433	257	257	174	174

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans to total assets at current year. Firms' loan balance from different types of banks is disclosed in the note to financial statements. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

Table 11Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size when firms' earnings management is measured by a model which controls for the effect of external financing on unexpected accruals.

Panel A: Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and bank loan size.

	Full Sample		SOEs		Non-SOEs	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Reported ROA	0.152***		0.156***		0.173***	
	(9.62)		(6.17)		(9.73)	
Unmanaged ROA		0.007		0.003		0.055***
		(0.60)		(0.19)		(3.38)
Adjusted R ²	0.038	0.032	0.039	0.035	0.031	0.018
N	14260	14260	7960	7960	6149	6149
	(2.80)		(-0.09)		(2.88)	
Unmanaged ROA		0.981		0.044		0.236**
		(0.51)		(0.50)		(2.53)
Adjusted R ²	0.149	-0.019	0.057	0.058	0.394	0.389
N	593	593	351	351	242	242
Panel C: Reported fi	rm performance, un	managed performa	nce and FBs' loan s	size		
i with C. Reported in	1				0.128**	
-	0.171***		0.129**		0.128	
-	0.171*** (4.13)		0.129** (2.03)		(2.21)	
Reported ROA		0.089***		0.155**		0.075**
Reported ROA Unmanaged ROA		0.089*** (3.27)		0.155 ** (2.55)		0.075** (2.24)

N 226 226 123 123 103	103
-----------------------	-----

Panel D: Reported firm performance, unmanaged performance and SMBs' loan size

Reported ROA	0.092***		0.029***		0.076***	
	(4.74)		(5.63)		(6.28)	
Unmanaged ROA		-0.011		-0.076*		-0.048
		(-0.16)		(-1.72)		(-0.45)
Adjusted R ²	0.111	0.109	0.035	0.074	0.189	0.146
N	430	430	249	249	174	174

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans to total assets at current year. Firms' loan balance from different types of banks is disclosed in the note to financial statements. Definitions of other variables are listed in Appendix. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectivel

5.2 Endogeneity issue

My findings that bank lending decisions vary across borrowers with different ownership structure are consistent with the results of market reaction to bank loan announcements. Apart from this robustness check, I also conduct a firm fixed-effects regression to further deal with the endogeneity issue. First, I consider that bank lending decisions may be impacted by unobserved firm characteristics. Specifically, firms might have other characteristics unconsidered in our model that influence both firm performance and loan finance. Hence, I apply the firm fixed-effects regression to control for unobservable time-invariant firm-specific effects. The results of the regressions are reported in Table 12. After controlling for firm fixed effects, the positive relationship between bank loan size and firm reported performance is still merely cosmetic for both the full sample and SOE subsample.

Table 12Bank loan size and firm performance: Firm fixed effects regression

	Full sample		SOE		Non-SOE	Non-SOE	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
Reported ROA	0.095***		0.094***		0.163***		
_	(6.26)		(3.63)		(9.16)		
Unmanaged ROA		-0.027***		-0.047***		0.057***	
		(-2.75)		(-3.38)		(3.81)	

Results of other variables, which include Size, Tangibility, Leverage, Board, Indep, PC, BT and year and industry fixed effects, are not reported. Definitions of variables are listed in Appendix.

Constant	0.615***	0.609***	0.946***	0.953***	0.780***	0.741***
	(15.90)	(15.71)	(17.37)	(17.46)	(11.65)	(10.98)
Adjusted R2	0.022	0.020	0.012	0.012	-0.106	-0.119
N	16622	16622	9372	9372	7096	7096

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions, is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans to total assets at current year. I split the full sample of firms into SOEs and non-SOEs and repeat the same regressions as for the full sample. Firm fixed effect regression with standard errors is adjusted for heteroskedasticity and clustering within firms. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance levels at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

5.3 Additional robustness test

Finally, I implement an additional robustness test by examining bank lending practice after the China's economic stimulus package. In 2008, due to the global financial crisis, China encountered a sharp contraction in exports and foreign direct investment and launched an economic stimulus package to minimize the impact (Hsu et al., 2015). The economic stimulus package aims to increase the loan supply and encouraging investment by firms, which is more pronounced in SOEs (Burdekin and Weidenmier, 2015). Moreover, because of the policies that eased provision of credit, the lending expanded rapidly, and bank loan officers were not liable for loans they granted if the loans were made in support of the stimulus package (Naughton, 2009). Hence, this event represents us with an opportunity to test whether bank lending decisions worsen in the post-financial crisis period. During the economic stimulus package period, the relationship between bank loan size and firm reported performance will be weakened, which is more pronounced in SOEs. Liu et al. (2018) find that the economic stimulus packages cause weaker relationships between bank loans and firm performance and SOEs receiving more loans than non-SOEs.

To test the impact of the shock, I include *Post*, which is a dummy variable equal to 1 for firm-year observations during the economic stimulus package period between 2009 and 2010 and 0 otherwise and repeat the previous analysis of bank lending decisions. The results are reported in Table 13. I observe that the interaction term *Post*Reported ROA* is significantly negative for the SOE subsample in column 3, indicating that banks overlook firms' reported performance when lending decisions are being made. I also observe that *Post*Reported ROA* is insignificant, and the interaction term *Post*Unmanaged ROA* is negative and significant for the non-SOE subsample in columns

5 and 6, suggesting that banks extend more credit to firms exhibiting poor unmanaged performance during the economic stimulus package period. In sum, these robustness tests confirm my main finding that the positive relationship between bank loan size and firms' reported performance is cosmetic. Furthermore, the relationship between bank loan size and firms' unmanaged performance reflects ineffectiveness of banks' monitoring of lending practices.

Table 13Additional robustness test: The impact of stimulus package on the relationship between bank loan size and firm performance

	Full sample	·	SOE		Non-SOE	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Post	0.011***	0.010***	0.013***	0.008**	0.008*	0.012***
	(3.71)	(3.79)	(3.51)	(2.39)	(1.67)	(2.64)
Post*Reported ROA	-0.111**		-0.214***		-0.027	
•	(-2.48)		(-3.22)		(-0.44)	
Post*Unmanaged ROA		-0.099***	, ,	-0.049	, ,	-0.170***
<u> </u>		(-3.68)		(-1.31)		(-4.23)
Reported ROA	0.188***	, ,	0.239***	, ,	0.183***	, ,
	(12.39)		(9.67)		(10.71)	
Unmanaged ROA	` '	0.009	, ,	-0.006	,	0.074***
		(0.90)		(-0.39)		(4.82)

Results of other variables are not reported, which includes Size, Tangibility, Leverage, Board, Indep, PC, BT and year and industry fixed effects. Definitions of variables are listed in Appendix.

Constant	-0.053***	-0.098***	-0.017	-0.062***	-0.072**	-0.139***
	(-2.82)	(-5.23)	(-0.71)	(-2.64)	(-1.99)	(-3.85)
r2	0.027	0.018	0.020	0.010	0.024	0.010
N	16622	16622	9372	9372	7096	7096

The dependent variable, bank lending decisions is measured as the change in the ratio of bank loans to total assets at current year. I split the full sample of firms into SOEs and non-SOEs and repeat the same regressions as for the full sample. T-statistics are in parentheses, while ***, **, and * indicate significance levels at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

6.1 Firms' earnings management behaviour and bank lending and announcement effects

This paper explores bank certification value from the perspective of bank lending decisions by considering the effects of earnings management. Although a number of studies documents that Chinese banks extend loans based on borrowers' profitability and indicates they make efficient lending decisions, negative bank loan announcement effects are still prevalent in China. Hence, I posit that banks may not always implement effective monitoring through lending, and it should matter for bank loan announcement effects.

Consistent with my hypotheses, I find that bank loan size is positively associated with firm reported profitability, but has no relationship with firms' unmanaged profitability Specifically, this case appears when state-owned banks lend to SOEs. Moreover, in alignment with the notion that banks' unique certification value is based on the effectiveness of bank monitoring, my analysis reveals that negative bank loan announcement occurs when there is a disconnection between bank loan size and firm reported profitability. These findings suggest that the extent to which banks carry out effective monitoring through lending greatly affect the certification value on borrowers' quality in the perspective of investors in the stock markets.

Overall, there are two main suggestions that can be drawn from findings of this study. The first suggestion is that banks do not always exert effective monitoring

through lending. The second suggestion is that banks effective monitoring efforts in lending decisions relate to bank certification role to stock markets. My study contributes to the existing literature on effects of bank loan announcement and bank lending decisions and helps us to better comprehend certain puzzling factors in the Chinese banking sector. This study is of great interest to academics, practitioners and regulators, and contributes to issues ranging from bolstering the efficiency of bank loan allocation to reshaping banking regulations, such as the privatization of banking in China.

6.2 Implications of this study

My findings offer important implications in several ways. First, in emerging markets where investor protection is weak, earnings management is prevalent and state ownership of bank and firm is prominent, the positive relationship between firm performance and bank loan size is merely cosmetic in some case and banks do not always exert efforts to screen borrowing firms. Hence, this finding emphasizes the importance of banks' real monitoring efforts in quantitative measures in credit evaluation process and call for actions to strengthen quantitative measures. Furthermore, my evidence shows that bank lending decisions are likely to vary according to bankfirm ownership relationships. This suggests that some policies should be formed ad hoc for specific bank-firm ownership relationship. Finally, this study implies that without real screening efforts, approval of bank loan could amplify investors uncertainty over borrowers.

6.3 Limitations of this study

One limitation of this study was the sample of bank loan announcements. Although disclosure of bank loan information is mandatory for Chinese listed firms, firms did not always specify whether the loan announcements are validated as signed loan contracts. Accordingly, this study excludes those loan announcements that cannot be determined as signed contracts. Hence, my sample of bank loan announcements was relatively small. With the development of the Chinese capital market and information disclosure, the information on bank loan announcements in listed firms could be more complete. A future study exploring bank loan announcement effects could benefit from a larger sample size. Moreover, I admit that the impact of endogeneity cannot be completely ruled out. Hence, readers should be cautious when applying the results of this research.

Appendix Definitions of variables

Variables	Definition
ΔDEBT	The change in bank loans to total assets at current year.
Reported ROA	One-year lagged performance in the rate of return on assets.
%DA	One-year lagged discretionary accruals as a fraction of assets.
Unmanaged ROA	A measure of a firm's unmanaged performance, calculated as Reported ROA-%DA
Size	Firm size, which is measured as one-year lagged natural log of total assets.
Tangibility	One-year lagged net fixed assets divided by total assets.
Leverage	One-year lagged total liabilities divided by total assets.
Board	The natural log of total number of directors on the boards at current year.
Indep	The number of independent directors to total number of directors on the boards.
Political	A dummy variable equal to one if the CEO or director on the boards has a government background at current year and zero otherwise.
Banker	A dummy variable equal to one if the CEO or director on boards has bank background at current year and zero otherwise.
EM	The absolute value of a borrowing firm's discretionary accrual to total assets of the year preceding the loan announcement.
ROA_UP	A dummy variable equal to one if a borrowing firm's ROA in announcement year increased compared with the previous year.
RPT	Other receivables to total assets of the year preceding the loan announcement.
LA_RIGHT	A dummy variable if the percentage of shares outstanding owned by the largest shareholder is greater than the median value.
MKT	The natural logarithm of market value of borrowing firms' tradable shares.
SOE	A dummy variable equal to one if a loan is borrowed by SOEs.
LOANSIZE	The natural logarithm of a bank loan.
TERM	The maturity of a bank loan.
FB	A dummy variable equal to one if a loan is granted by foreign banks.
FB×EM	An interaction term computed by FB multiplying by EM.

References

Aharony, J., Lee, C.-W.J., Wong, T.J., 2000. Financial packaging of IPO firms in China. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 103-126

Aharony, J., Wang, J., Yuan, H., 2010. Tunneling as an incentive for earnings management during the IPO process in China. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 29, 1-26

Allen, F., Qian, J., Qian, M., 2005. Law, finance, and economic growth in China. *Journal of Financial Economics* 77, 57-116

Bai, C.-E., Lu, J., Tao, Z., 2006. The multitask theory of state enterprise reform: empirical evidence from China. *The American Economic Review*, 353-357

Bailey, W., Huang, W., Yang, Z.S., 2011. Bank Loans with Chinese Characteristics: Some Evidence on Inside Debt in a State-Controlled Banking System. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 46, 1795-1830

Beladi, H., Chao, C.C., Hu, M., 2018. Does tax avoidance behavior affect bank loan contracts for Chinese listed firms? *International Review of Financial Analysis* 58, 104-116

Berger, A.N., Hasan, I., Zhou, M., 2009. Bank ownership and efficiency in China: What will happen in the world's largest nation? *Journal of Banking & Finance* 33, 113-130

Bertrand, M., Schoar, A., Thesmar, D., 2007. Banking deregulation and industry structure: Evidence from the French banking reforms of 1985. *The Journal of Finance* 62, 597-628

Bonin, J.P., Hasan, I., Wachtel, P., 2005. Bank performance, efficiency and ownership in transition countries. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 29, 31-53

Billett, M.T., Flannery, M.J., Garfinkel, J.A., 1995. The Effect of Lender Identity on a Borrowing Firms Equity Return. *Journal of Finance* 50, 699-718

Borisova, G., Megginson, W.L., 2011. Does government ownership affect the cost of debt? Evidence from privatization. *Review of Financial Studies* 24, 2693-2737

Brandt, L., Li, H., 2003. Bank discrimination in transition economies: ideology, information, or incentives? *Journal of Comparative Economics* 31, 387-413

Burdekin, R.C.K., Weidenmier, M.D., 2015. Assessing the impact of the Chinese stimulus package at home and abroad: A damp squib? *China Economic Review* 33, 137-162

Bushman, R.M., Wittenberg-Moerman, R., 2012. The Role of Bank Reputation in "Certifying" Future Performance Implications of Borrowers' Accounting Numbers. *Journal of Accounting Research* 50, 883-930

- Chaney, P.K., Faccio, M., Parsley, D., 2011. The quality of accounting information in politically connected firms. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 51, 58-76
- Chen, H., Chen, J.Z., Lobo, G.J., Wang, Y., 2010. Association between borrower and lender state ownership and accounting conservatism. *Journal of Accounting Research* 48, 973-1014
- Chen, H., Chen, J.Z., Lobo, G.J., Wang, Y., 2011. Effects of Audit Quality on Earnings Management and Cost of Equity Capital: Evidence from China. *Contemporary Accounting Research* 28, 892-925
- Chen, K.C., Yuan, H., 2004. Earnings management and capital resource allocation: Evidence from China's accounting-based regulation of rights issues. *The Accounting Review* 79, 645-665
- Chen, X., Lee, C.-W.J., Li, J., 2008. Government assisted earnings management in China. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 27, 262-274
- Chen, X., Skully, M., Brown, K., 2005. Banking efficiency in China: Application of DEA to pre- and post-deregulation eras: 1993–2000. *China Economic Review* 16, 229-245
- Chen, Y., Liu, M., Su, J., 2013. Greasing the wheels of bank lending: Evidence from private firms in China. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 37, 2533-2545
- Cohen, D.A., Zarowin, P., 2010. Accrual-based and real earnings management activities around seasoned equity offerings. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 50, 2-19
- Core, J.E., Holthausen, R.W., Larcker, D.F., 1999. Corporate governance, chief executive officer compensation, and firm performance1. *Journal of Financial Economics* 51, 371-406
- Cornett, M.M., Marcus, A.J., Tehranian, H., 2008. Corporate governance and pay-for-performance: The impact of earnings management. *Journal of Financial Economics* 87, 357-373
- Cull, R., Xu, L.C., 2003. Who gets credit? The behavior of bureaucrats and state banks in allocating credit to Chinese state-owned enterprises. *Journal of Development Economics* 71, 533-559
- Dai, L., Dharwadkar, R., Shi, L., Zhang, B., 2017. The governance transfer of blockholders: Evidence from block acquisitions and earnings management around the world. *Journal of Corporate Finance* 45, 586-607
- Dechow, P., Ge, W., Schrand, C., 2010. Understanding earnings quality: A review of the proxies, their determinants and their consequences. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 50, 344-401

Dechow, P.M., 1994. Accounting earnings and cash flows as measures of firm performance: The role of accounting accruals. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 18, 3-42

Dechow, P.M., Sloan, R.G., Sweeney, A.P., 1995. Detecting Earnings Management. *The Accounting Review* 70, 193-225

Demiroglu, C., James, C.M., 2010. The information content of bank loan covenants. *Review of financial Studies* 23, 3700-3737

Diamond, D.W., 1984. Financial Intermediation and Delegated Monitoring. *Review of Economic Studies* 51, 393-414

Dinç, I.S., 2005. Politicians and banks: Political influences on government-owned banks in emerging markets. *Journal of Financial Economics* 77, 453-479

Ding, Y., Zhang, H., Zhang, J., 2007. Private vs state ownership and earnings management: evidence from Chinese listed companies. *Corporate Governance: An International Review* 15, 223-238

Faccio, M., Masulis, R.W., McConnell, J., 2006. Political connections and corporate bailouts. *The Journal of Finance* 61, 2597-2635

Fama, E.F., 1985. Whats Different About Banks. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 15, 29-39

Fields, L.P., Fraser, D.R., Berry, T.L., Byers, S., 2006. Do bank loan relationships still matter? *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking* 38, 1195-1209

Firth, M., Lin, C., Liu, P., Wong, S.M., 2009. Inside the black box: Bank credit allocation in China's private sector. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 33, 1144-1155

Graham, J.R., Harvey, C.R., Rajgopal, S., 2005. The economic implications of corporate financial reporting. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 40, 3-73

Greenwald, B.C., Stiglitz, J.E., 1986. Externalities in economies with imperfect information and incomplete markets. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 229-264

Harvey, C.R., Lins, K.V., Roper, A.H., 2004. The effect of capital structure when expected agency costs are extreme. *Journal of Financial Economics* 74, 3-30

Herbohn, K., Gao, R., Clarkson, P., 2019. Evidence on Whether Banks Consider Carbon Risk in Their Lending Decisions. *Journal of Business Ethics* 158, 155-175

Hsu, S., Li, J., & Xue, Y. (2015). The rise and fall of shadow banking in China. Political Economy Research Institute, WP, 375.

Huang, W., Schwienbacher, A., Zhao, S., 2012. When bank loans are bad news: evidence from market reactions to loan announcements under the risk of expropriation. *Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money* 22, 233-252

- James, C., 1987. Some Evidence on the Uniqueness of Bank Loans. *Journal of Financial Economics* 19, 217-235
- Jensen, M.C., 1993. The modern industrial revolution, exit, and the failure of internal control systems. *The Journal of Finance* 48, 831-880
- Jian, M., Wong, T.J., 2010. Propping through related party transactions. *Review of Accounting Studies* 15, 70-105
- Jiang, F., Jiang, Z., Kim, K.A., 2017. Capital markets, financial institutions, and corporate finance in China. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 101309
- Jones, J.J., 1991. Earnings management during import relief investigations. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 193-228
- Kang, J.-K., Liu, W.-L., 2008. Bank incentives and suboptimal lending decisions: Evidence from the valuation effect of bank loan announcements in Japan. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 32, 915-929
- Kim, I., Miller, S., Wan, H., Wang, B., 2016. Drivers behind the monitoring effectiveness of global institutional investors: Evidence from earnings management. *Journal of Corporate Finance* 40, 24-46
- Kim, Y., Park, M.S., 2005. Pricing of Seasoned Equity Offers and Earnings Management. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 40, 435-463
- Kornai, J., 1986. The soft budget constraint. Kyklos 39, 3-30
- Kothari, S.P., Leone, A.J., Wasley, C.E., 2005. Performance matched discretionary accrual measures. *Journal of Accounting & Economics* 39, 163-197
- Lennox, C., Wang, Z.-T., Wu, X., 2018. Earnings management, audit adjustments, and the financing of corporate acquisitions: Evidence from China. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 65, 21-40
- Li, Q., Huang, W. (2018). Accounting Conservatism and Market Reaction of Bank Loan Announcement. *Finance and Trade Research*, 179(05), 99-110.
- Li, Y., Nie, W., Xiang, E., Djajadikerta, H.G., 2018. Can banks identify firms' real earnings management? Evidence from China. *Finance Research Letters* 25, 23-29
- Lin, C., Ma, Y., Malatesta, P., Xuan, Y., 2011. Ownership structure and the cost of corporate borrowing. *Journal of Financial Economics* 100, 1-23
- Lin, J.Y., Tan, G., 1999. Policy burdens, accountability, and the soft budget constraint. *American Economic Review*, 426-431
- Lin, X., Zhang, Y., 2009. Bank ownership reform and bank performance in China. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 33, 20-29

Liu, Q., Lu, Z., 2007. Corporate governance and earnings management in the Chinese listed companies: A tunneling perspective. *Journal of Corporate Finance* 13, 881-906

Liu, Y., Ning, Y., Davidson III, W.N., 2010. Earnings management surrounding new debt issues. *Financial Review* 45, 659-681

Liu, Q., Pan, X., Tian, G.G., 2018. To what extent did the economic stimulus package influence bank lending and corporate investment decisions? Evidence from China. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 86, 177-193

Lu, Z., Zhu, J., Zhang, W., 2012. Bank discrimination, holding bank ownership, and economic consequences: Evidence from China. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 36, 341-354

Mafrolla, E., D'Amico, E., 2017. Borrowing capacity and earnings management: An analysis of private loans in private firms. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 36, 284-301

Maskara, P.K., Mullineaux, D.J., 2011. Information asymmetry and self-selection bias in bank loan announcement studies. *Journal of Financial Economics* 101, 684-694

Mikkelson, W.H., Partch, M.M., 1986. Valuation Effects of Security Offerings and the Issuance Process. *Journal of Financial Economics* 15, 31-60

Pan, X., Tian, G.G., 2020. Bank Work Experience Versus Political Connections: Which Matters for Bank Loan Financing? International Review of Finance 20, 351-382Qi, B.,

Lin, J.W., Tian, G., Lewis, H.C.X., 2017. The Impact of Top Management Team Characteristics on the Choice of Earnings Management Strategies: Evidence from China. *Accounting Horizons* 32, 143-164

Qian, Y., Roland, G., 1998. Federalism and the soft budget constraint. *American Economic Review* 88

Rajan, R., Winton, A., 1995. Covenants and Collateral as Incentives to Monitor. *The Journal of Finance* 50, 1113-1146

Ross, D.G., 2010. The "Dominant Bank Effect:" How High Lender Reputation Affects the Information Content and Terms of Bank Loans. *Review of Financial Studies* 23, 2730-2756

Shan, Y., Taylor, S., Walter, T., 2013. Earnings management or measurement error? The effect of external financing on unexpected accruals. Working paper

Shen, C.-H., Huang, Y.-L., 2013. Effects of earnings management on bank cost of debt. *Accounting & Finance* 53, 265-300

Shleifer, A., Vishny, R.W., 1997. A Survey of Corporate Governance. *The Journal of Finance* 52, 737-783

Teoh, S.H., Welch, I., Wong, T.J., 1998a. Earnings Management and the Long-Run Market Performance of Initial Public Offerings. *The Journal of Finance* 53, 1935-1974

Teoh, S.H., Welch, I., Wong, T.J., 1998b. Earnings management and the underperformance of seasoned equity offerings. *Journal of Financial Economics* 50, 63-99

Yermack, D., 1996. Higher market valuation of companies with a small board of directors. *Journal of Financial Economics* 40, 185-211

Zheng, Y., Zhu, Y., 2013. Bank lending incentives and firm investment decisions in China. *Journal of Multinational Financial Management* 23, 146-165